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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

(ALBANY DIVISION) 
 
MEREDIAN HOLDINGS GROUP, INC.,  ) 
MEREDIAN, INC., DANIMER SCIENTIFIC,  ) CIVIL ACTION NO.:  
LLC, and MEREDIAN BIOPLASTICS, INC. ) 
       )  1:16-cv-00124-WLS 
   Plaintiffs,   )  
       ) 
v.       ) 
       ) 
PAUL PEREIRA, ALTON GROUP, LLC,  ) 
ALTON CONSULTING GROUP, LLC,  ) 
ALTON GROUP, INC., ALTON BIO, LLC,  ) 
ALTON BIO I, LLC, RACHAEL PEREIRA  ) 
and THE HOUSE OF MIAMI, LLC,   ) 
       ) 
   Defendants.   ) 
_________________________________________ ) 

 
DEFENDANTS PAUL PEREIRA, ALTON GROUP, LLC, ALTON CONSULTING 

GROUP, LLC, ALTON GROUP, INC., ALTON BIO, LLC, ALTON BIO I, LLC, 
RACHAEL PEREIRA and THE HOUSE OF MIAMI, LLC’s ANSWER, AFFIRMATIVE 

DEFENSES AND COUNTERCLAIMS TO PLAINTIFFS’ AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 

 COME NOW Defendants PAUL PEREIRA, ALTON GROUP, LLC, ALTON 

CONSULTING GROUP, LLC, ALTON GROUP, INC., ALTON BIO, LLC, ALTON BIO I, 

LLC, RACHAEL PEREIRA and THE HOUSE OF MIAMI, LLC, by and through undersigned 

counsel, and hereby file this, in accordance with the applicable Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, 

their Answer and Affirmative Defenses to the Amended Complaint of Plaintiffs, MEREDIAN 

HOLDINGS GROUP, INC., MEREDIAN, INC., DANIMER SCIENTIFIC, LLC and 

MEREDIAN BIOPLASTICS, INC. (“Plaintiffs”).  Defendants, as to each numbered paragraph 

of the Amended Complaint, state as follows: 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 1 of the Amended Complaint for 

jurisdictional purposes. 

2. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 2 of the Amended Complaint for 

purposes of accepting venue. 

3. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 3 of the Amended Complaint for 

jurisdictional purposes. 

THE PARTIES 

4. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 4 of the Amended Complaint. 

5. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 5 of the Amended Complaint. 

6. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 6 of the Amended Complaint. 

7. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 7 of the Amended Complaint. 

8. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 8 of the Amended Complaint. 

9. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 9 of the Amended Complaint. 

10. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 10 of the Amended Complaint. 

11. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 11 of the Amended Complaint. 

12. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 12 of the Amended Complaint. 

13. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 13 of the Amended Complaint. 

14. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 14 of the Amended Complaint. 

15. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 15 of the Amended Complaint. 

16. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 16 of the Amended Complaint. 

17. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 17 of the Amended Complaint. 

18. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 18 of the Amended Complaint for 
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jurisdictional purposes only.  Defendants deny that Georgia law exclusively applies or that the 

actions complained of all took place in Georgia or caused injury in Georgia, and demand strict 

proof thereof. 

ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

The Parties’ Initial Negotiations 

19. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 19 of the Amended Complaint that 

the Plaintiffs are in the business of manufacturing PHA, but deny that the allegations in 

paragraph 19 are a true and complete description of the subject business, and demand strict proof 

thereof. 

20. Defendants deny knowledge sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of 

the allegations set forth in paragraph 20 of the Amended Complaint; as such, the allegations are 

denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

21. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 21 of the Amended Complaint that 

discussions with PEREIRA took place in the summer of 2013 about PEREIRA coming aboard 

and implementing a “turnaround plan,” but deny that the other allegations in paragraph 21 are a 

true and complete description of the “turnaround plan,” and demand strict proof thereof. 

22. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 22 of the Amended Complaint that 

meetings with PEREIRA took place in June and July of 2013, but deny that the other allegations 

in paragraph 22 are a true and complete description of the “meetings” and attendees, and demand 

strict proof thereof. 

23. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 23 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

24. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 24 of the Amended 
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Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

25. Defendants deny knowledge sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of 

the allegations set forth in paragraph 25 of the Amended Complaint; as such, the allegations are 

denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

26. Defendants deny knowledge sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of 

the allegations set forth in paragraph 26 of the Amended Complaint; as such, the allegations are 

denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

27. Defendants admit that Defendants Pereira and/or the Alton Companies entered 

into certain agreements with Plaintiffs.  Defendants deny the remainder of the allegations set 

forth in paragraph 27 of the Amended Complaint, and Defendants demand strict proof thereof.   

The Memorandum of Understanding 

28. Defendants admit that Defendants Pereira and/or Alton Consulting entered into a 

Memorandum of Understanding (”MOU”) with Plaintiffs DaniMer, Meredian, Inc. and/or 

Meredian Bioplastics, which document speaks for itself.  To the extent the allegations set forth in 

paragraph 28, attempt to provide, modify or interpret the language of the MOU, the allegations 

are denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded.  Defendants deny the remainder 

of the allegations set forth in paragraph 28 of the Amended Complaint and demand strict proof 

thereof. 

29. Defendants can neither admit nor deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 29 of 

the Amended Complaint, as the MOU speaks for itself.  To the extent the allegations set forth in 

paragraph 29 attempt to provide, modify or interpret the language of the MOU, the allegations 

are denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

30. Defendants can neither admit nor deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 30 of 
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the Amended Complaint, as the MOU speaks for itself.  To the extent the allegations set forth in 

paragraph 30 attempt to provide, modify or interpret the language of the MOU, the allegations 

are denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

The Subscription and Stock Purchase Agreement 

31. Defendants admit that Defendant Alton Bio entered into a Subscription and Stock 

Purchase Agreement with Plaintiffs DaniMer and Meredian, Inc., which documents speaks for 

itself. To the extent the allegations set forth in paragraph 31, attempt to provide, modify or 

interpret the language of the Stock Purchase Agreement, the allegations are denied in their 

entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

The Promissory Note 

32. Defendants admit that Defendant Alton Bio executed a Promissory Note, which 

document speaks for itself. To the extent the allegations set forth in paragraph 32 attempt to 

provide, modify or interpret the language of the Promissory Note, the allegations are denied in 

their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

33. Defendants can neither admit nor deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 33 of 

the Amended Complaint, as the Promissory Note speaks for itself.  To the extent the allegations 

set forth in paragraph 33 attempt to provide, modify or interpret the language of the Promissory 

Note, the allegations are denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded.  

Defendants specifically deny any allegation that the Promissory Note is in default, and demand 

strict proof thereof. 

The Alton Consulting Agreement 

34. Defendants admit that Defendants Pereira and/or Alton Consulting entered into 

the Alton Consulting Agreement with Plaintiff Meredian Holdings, which document speaks for 
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itself.  To the extent the allegations set forth in paragraph 34 attempt to provide, modify or 

interpret the language of the Alton Consulting Agreement, the allegations are denied in their 

entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

35. Defendants can neither admit nor deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 35 of 

the Amended Complaint, as the Alton Consulting Agreement speaks for itself.  To the extent the 

allegations set forth in paragraph 35 attempt to provide, modify or interpret the language of the 

Alton Consulting Agreement, the allegations are denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof 

is demanded.   

Deferred Compensation Agreement 

36. Defendants admit that Defendant Alton Bio entered into the Deferred 

Compensation Agreement with Plaintiff Meredian Holdings, which document speaks for itself. 

To the extent the allegations set forth in paragraph 36 attempt to provide, modify or interpret the 

language of the Deferred Compensation Agreement, the allegations are denied in their entirety 

and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

Incentive Stock Option Agreement 

37. Defendants admit that Defendant Pereira entered into the Incentive Stock Option 

Agreement with Plaintiff Meredian Holdings, which document speaks for itself. To the extent the 

allegations set forth in paragraph 37 attempt to provide, modify or interpret the language of the 

Incentive Stock Option Agreement, the allegations are denied in their entirety and strict proof 

thereof is demanded. 

38. The allegations set forth in paragraph 38 of the Amended Complaint are denied as 

stated.  To the extent the allegations set forth in paragraph 38, attempt to provide, modify or 

interpret the language of the Incentive Stock Option Agreement, the allegations are denied in 
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their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded.   

PEREIRA and the Alton Companies’ Fraud and Malfeasance 

39. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 39 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

40. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 40 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

41. The allegations set forth in paragraph 41 of the Amended Complaint are denied as 

stated. 

42. Defendants deny knowledge sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of 

the allegations set forth in paragraph 42 of the Amended Complaint; as such, the allegations are 

denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

43. The allegations set forth in paragraph 43 of the Amended Complaint are denied as 

stated. Defendants specifically deny the allegations that Plaintiffs learned of the agreements in 

2015, and demand strict proof thereof. 

44. The allegations set forth in paragraph 44 of the Amended Complaint are denied.  

45. The allegations set forth in paragraph 45 of the Amended Complaint are denied as 

stated. 

46. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 46 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

47. Defendants can neither admit nor deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 47 of 

the Amended Complaint, as the referenced email speaks for itself.  To the extent the allegations 

set forth in paragraph 47, attempt to provide, modify or interpret the language of the referenced 

email, the allegations are denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 
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48. Defendants can neither admit nor deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 48 of 

the Amended Complaint, as Exhibit “F,” speaks for itself.  To the extent the allegations set forth 

in paragraph 48, attempt to provide, modify or interpret the language of Exhibit “F,” the 

allegations are denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

49. Defendants can neither admit nor deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 43 of 

the Amended Complaint, as Exhibit “F,” speaks for itself.  To the extent the allegations set forth 

in paragraph 43, attempt to provide, modify or interpret the language of Exhibit “F,” the 

allegations are denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

50. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 50 of the Amended 

Complaint as stated, and demand strict proof thereof. 

COUNT I: RESCISSION/FRAUD IN THE INDUCEMENT 

(By all Plaintiffs against Paul PEREIRA and the Alton Companies, Jointly and Severally) 

51. Defendants repeat and reallege their responses to paragraphs 1 through 50 of the 

Amended Complaint with the same force and effect if fully restated, repeated and realleged 

herein. 

52. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 52 of the Amended Complaint that 

meetings with PEREIRA took place in June and July of 2013, but deny that the other allegations 

in paragraph 52 are a true and complete description of the “meetings” and attendees, and demand 

strict proof thereof. 

53. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 53 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

54. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 54 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 
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55. Defendants deny knowledge sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of 

the allegations set forth in paragraph 55 of the Amended Complaint; as such, the allegations are 

denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

56. Defendants admit that Plaintiffs DaniMer and Meredian, Inc. became wholly 

owned subsidiaries of Plaintiff Meredian Holdings.  The remainder of the allegations set forth in 

paragraph 56 of the Amended Complaint are denied as stated and Defendants demand strict 

proof thereof.  Defendants further deny making any misrepresentations to Plaintiffs.   

57. Defendants deny knowledge sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of 

the allegations set forth in paragraph 57 of the Amended Complaint; as such, the allegations are 

denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

58. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 58 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

59. The allegations set forth in paragraph 59 of the Amended Complaint are denied as 

stated and Defendants demand strict proof thereof. 

60. The allegations set forth in paragraph 60 of the Amended Complaint are denied as 

stated. To the extent the allegations set forth in paragraph 60, attempt to provide, modify or 

interpret the language of the referenced agreement, the allegations are denied in their entirety and 

strict proof thereof is demanded.   

61. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 61 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

62. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 62 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

63. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 63 of the Amended 
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Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

64. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 64 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

65. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 65 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

66. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 66 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

67. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 67 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

68. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 68 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

69. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 69 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

70. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 70 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

71. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 71 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

72. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 72 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

COUNT II: FRAUD IN THE INDUCEMENT 

(By all Plaintiffs against Paul PEREIRA and the Alton Companies, Jointly and Severally) 

73. Defendants repeat and reallege their responses to paragraphs 1 through 72 of the 

Amended Complaint with the same force and effect if fully restated, repeated and realleged 
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herein. 

74. Defendants admit the allegations in paragraph 74 of the Amended Complaint that 

meetings with PEREIRA took place in June and July of 2013, but deny that the other allegations 

in paragraph 74 are a true and complete description of the “meetings” and attendees, and demand 

strict proof thereof. 

75. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 75 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

76. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 76 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

77. Defendants deny knowledge sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of 

the allegations set forth in paragraph 77 of the Amended Complaint; as such, the allegations are 

denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

78. Defendants admit that Plaintiffs DaniMer and Meredian, Inc. became wholly 

owned subsidiaries of Plaintiff Meredian Holdings.  The remainder of the allegations set forth in 

paragraph 78 of the Amended Complaint are denied as stated and Defendants demand strict 

proof thereof.  Defendants further deny making any misrepresentations to Plaintiffs.   

79. Defendants deny knowledge sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of 

the allegations set forth in paragraph 79 of the Amended Complaint; as such, the allegations are 

denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

80. The allegations set forth in paragraph 80 of the Amended Complaint are denied as 

stated.  

81. The allegations contained in paragraph 81 of the Amended Complaint are denied 

as stated and Defendants demand strict proof thereof. 
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82. The allegations set forth in paragraph 82 of the Amended Complaint are denied as 

stated. To the extent the allegations set forth in paragraph 82, attempt to provide, modify or 

interpret the language of the referenced agreement, the allegations are denied in their entirety and 

strict proof thereof is demanded.   

83. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 83 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

84. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 84 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

85. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 85 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

86. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 86 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

87. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 87 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

88. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 88 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

89. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 89 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

90. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 90 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

91. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 91 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

92. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 92 of the Amended 
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Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

93. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 93 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

COUNT III: NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION 

(By all Plaintiffs against Paul PEREIRA and the Alton Companies, Jointly and Severally) 

94. Defendants repeat and reallege their responses to paragraphs 1 through 93 of the 

Amended Complaint, with the same force and effect if fully restated, repeated and realleged 

herein. 

95. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 95 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

96. The allegations set forth in paragraph 96 of the Amended Complaint are denied as 

stated.   

97. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 97 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

98. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 98 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

99. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 99 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

100. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 100 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

101. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 101 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

102. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 102 of the Amended 
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Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

COUNT IV: FRAUD AND CONSPIRACY 

(By all Plaintiffs against All Defendants, Jointly and Severally) 

103. Defendants repeat and reallege their responses to paragraphs 1 through 102 of the 

Amended Complaint with the same force and effect if fully restated, repeated and realleged 

herein. 

104. The allegations set forth in paragraph 104 of the Amended Complaint are denied 

as stated.  To the extent the allegations set forth in paragraph 104, attempt to provide, modify or 

interpret the language of Exhibit “G,” the allegations are denied in their entirety and strict proof 

thereof is demanded. 

105. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 105 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

106. The allegations set forth in paragraph 106 of the Amended Complaint are denied 

as stated and Defendants demand strict proof thereof.. 

107. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 107 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

108. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 108 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

109. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 109 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

110. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 110 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

111. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 111 of the Amended 
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Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

COUNT V: FRAUD AND CONSPIRACY 

(By all Plaintiffs against All Defendants, Jointly and Severally) 

112. Defendants repeat and reallege their responses to paragraphs 1 through 111 of the 

Amended Complaint with the same force and effect if fully restated, repeated and realleged 

herein. 

113. The allegations set forth in paragraph 113 of the Amended Complaint are denied 

as stated and Defendants demand strict proof thereof.   

114. The allegations set forth in paragraph 114 of the Amended Complaint are denied 

as stated.  

115. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 115 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

116. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 116 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

117. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 117 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

118. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 118 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

119. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 119 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

120. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 120 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 
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COUNT VI: BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY OF CARE AND GOOD FAITH 

(By all Plaintiffs against Paul PEREIRA) 

121. Defendants repeat and reallege their responses to paragraphs 1 through 120 of the 

Amended Complaint with the same force and effect if fully restated, repeated and realleged 

herein. 

122. Defendants can neither admit nor deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 122 

of the Amended Complaint, as Georgia common law and O.C.G.A. §§ 14-2-830 and 14-2-842 

speak for themselves.  To the extent the allegations set forth in paragraph 122, attempt to 

provide, modify or interpret the language of Georgia common law and O.C.G.A. §§ 14-2-830 

and 14-2-842, the allegations are denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

123. Defendants can neither admit nor deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 123 

of the Amended Complaint, as Georgia common law and O.C.G.A. §§ 14-2-830 and 14-2-842 

speak for themselves.  To the extent the allegations set forth in paragraph 123, attempt to 

provide, modify or interpret the language of Georgia common law and O.C.G.A. §§ 14-2-830 

and 14-2-842, the allegations are denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

124. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 124 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

125. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 125 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

126. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 126 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

127. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 127 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 
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128. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 128 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

129. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 129 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

COUNT VII: BREACH OF DUTY RELATED TO  

CONFLICTING INTEREST TRANSACTIONS  

(By all Plaintiffs against Paul PEREIRA) 

130. Defendants repeat and reallege their responses to paragraphs 1 through 129 of the 

Amended Complaint with the same force and effect if fully restated, repeated and realleged 

herein. 

131. Defendants can neither admit nor deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 131 

of the Amended Complaint, as it calls for a legal conclusion.   

132. Defendants can neither admit nor deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 132 

of the Amended Complaint, as it calls for a legal conclusion.. 

133. Defendants can neither admit nor deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 133 

of the Amended Complaint, as O.C.G.A. §§ 14-2-860 et seq. and 14-2-864 speak for themselves.  

To the extent the allegations set forth in paragraph 133 attempt to provide, modify or interpret 

the language of O.C.G.A. §§ 14-2-860 et seq. and 14-2-864, the allegations are denied in their 

entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

134. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 134 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

135. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 135 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 
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136. The allegations set forth in paragraph 136 of the Amended Complaint are denied 

as stated and Defendants demand strict proof thereof.. 

137. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 137 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

138. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 138 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

139. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 139 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

140. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 140 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

141. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 141 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

142. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 142 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

143. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 143 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

144. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 144 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

145. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 145 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

146. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 146 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 
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COUNT VIII: AIDING AND ABETTING BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTIES 

(By all Plaintiffs against Paul PEREIRA and the Alton Companies, Jointly and Severally) 

147. Defendants repeat and reallege their responses to paragraphs 1 through 146 of the 

Amended Complaint with the same force and effect if fully restated, repeated and realleged 

herein. 

148. Defendants can neither admit nor deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 148 

of the Amended Complaint, as it calls for a legal conclusion.. 

149. Defendants can neither admit nor deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 149 

of the Amended Complaint, as it calls for a legal conclusion.   

150. Defendants deny knowledge sufficient to form a belief as to the truth or falsity of 

the allegations set forth in paragraph 150 of the Amended Complaint; as such, the allegations are 

denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

151. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 151 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

152. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 152 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

153. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 153 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

154. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 154 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

155. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 155 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

156. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 156 of the Amended 
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Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

COUNT IX: AIDING AND ABETTING BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTIES 

(By all Plaintiffs against Rachel PEREIRA and the House of Miami, Jointly and Severally) 

157. Defendants repeat and reallege their responses to paragraphs 1 through 156 of the 

Amended Complaint with the same force and effect if fully restated, repeated and realleged 

herein. 

158. Defendants can neither admit nor deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 158 

of the Amended Complaint, as it calls for a legal conclusion.   

159. Defendants can neither admit nor deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 159 

of the Amended Complaint, as it calls for a legal conclusion.  

160. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 160 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

161. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 161 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

162. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 162 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

163. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 163 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

164. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 164 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

165. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 165 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

166. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 166 of the Amended 
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Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

COUNT X: CONVERSION 

(By all Plaintiffs against Paul PEREIRA and the Alton Companies, Jointly and Severally) 

167. Defendants repeat and reallege their responses to paragraphs 1 through 166 of the 

Amended Complaint with the same force and effect if fully restated, repeated and realleged 

herein. 

168. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 168 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

169. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 169 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

170. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 170 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

171. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 171 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

172. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 172 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

173. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 173 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

174. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 174 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

COUNT XI: UNJUST ENRICHMENT AND MONIES HAD AND RECEIVED 

(By all Plaintiffs against All Defendants, Jointly and Severally) 

175. Defendants repeat and reallege their responses to paragraphs 1 through 174 of the 
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Amended Complaint with the same force and effect if fully restated, repeated and realleged 

herein. 

176. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 176 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

177. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 177 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

178. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 178 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

COUNT XII: CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST 

(All Defendants) 

179. Defendants repeat and reallege their responses to paragraphs 1 through 178 of the 

Amended Complaint with the same force and effect if fully restated, repeated and realleged 

herein. 

180. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 180 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

181. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 181 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

182. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 182 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

COUNT XIII: ACCOUNTING 

(All Defendants) 

183. Defendants repeat and reallege their responses to paragraphs 1 through 182 of the 

Amended Complaint with the same force and effect if fully restated, repeated and realleged 
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herein. 

184. Defendants can neither admit nor deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 184 

of the referenced documents speak for themselves.  To the extent the allegations set forth in 

paragraph 184, attempt to provide, modify or interpret the language of the referenced documents, 

the allegations are denied in their entirety and strict proof thereof is demanded. 

185. Defendants deny any money or amounts are owed to Plaintiffs.. 

186. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 186 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

187. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 187 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

COUNT XIV: PUNITIVE DAMAGES 

(All Defendants) 

188. Defendants repeat and reallege their responses to paragraphs 1 through 187 of the 

Amended Complaint with the same force and effect if fully restated, repeated and realleged 

herein. 

189. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 189 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

190. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 190 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

191. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 191 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

 

 

Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17   Filed 10/12/16   Page 23 of 60



Page 24 of 60 

COUNT XV: ATTORNEYS FEES 

(All Defendants) 

192. Defendants repeat and reallege their responses to paragraphs 1 through 191 of the 

Amended Complaint with the same force and effect if fully restated, repeated and realleged 

herein. 

193. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 193 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

COUNT XVI: INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

(All Defendants) 

194. Defendants repeat and reallege their responses to paragraphs 1 through 193 of the 

Amended Complaint with the same force and effect if fully restated, repeated and realleged 

herein. 

195. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 195 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

196. Defendants deny the allegations set forth in paragraph 196 of the Amended 

Complaint in their entirety, and demand strict proof thereof. 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

Defendants forth the following affirmative defenses to each and every one of Plaintiffs’ 

causes of action: 

197. Pursuant to F.R.C.P. 12(b)(7), Plaintiffs have failed to name indispensable parties 

to this action; to wit, Tim Smith, Dowdy & Whittaker, LLC, John Dowdy CPA, Womble Carlyle 

Sandridge & Rice, LLP, Eric Glidewell Esq., Hoffman & Associates, LLC, Michael Hoffman 

Esq., and Joseph Nagel Esq. Each of the individuals and entities named, were either acting in 
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some capacity on behalf of the Plaintiffs (which has implicitly been denied by Plaintiffs in the 

Amended Complaint), or are indispensable parties to this action. 

198. Pursuant to F.R.C.P. 12(b)(6), Plaintiffs have failed to state a cause of action for 

each count of the Amended Complaint. 

199. Any actions of Defendants, complained of by Plaintiffs, are protected under 

applicable privilege or under the business judgment rule. 

200. Where Defendants seek to rescind certain agreements, which Defendants allege 

are void or voidable, such agreements survive under the entire fairness doctrine. 

201. Any actions of Defendants, complained of by Plaintiffs, are not proximately or 

foreseeably related to the damages claims by virtue of a supervening or intervening cause. 

202. As to any breach of contract claims by Plaintiffs, Plaintiff(s) first breached such 

contracts and Defendants’ performance thereunder was excused. 

203. As to any improper agreement, Defendants only entered into same under duress. 

204. Plaintiffs’ claims fail under the doctrines of estoppel. 

205. Plaintiffs have failed to comply with conditions precedent to the bringing of the 

action and have failed to give required notice under the agreements at issue. 

206. Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by virtue of fraud or misrepresentation. 

207. Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by virtue of mutual mistake. 

208. Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by virtue of unilateral mistake. 

209. Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by the doctrine of unclean hands. 

210. Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by the doctrine of laches. 

211. Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by the doctrine of waiver. 

212. Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by virtue of full performance by Defendant(s). 
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213. Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by virtue of illegality. 

214. Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by virtue of lack of consideration. 

215. Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by virtue of failure of consideration. 

216. Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by virtue of the statute of frauds. 

217. Plaintiffs’ equitable claims are barred as they have an adequate remedy at law. 

218. Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by virtue of their failure to mitigate damages. 

219. Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by virtue of novation. 

220. Plaintiffs’ claims are barred by virtue of accord and satisfaction. 

221. Plaintiffs’ claims for rescission are barred by virtue of failing to restore, or offer 

to restore the parties to their pre-rescission status quo.  

222. Plaintiffs’ claims are subject to recoupment and setoff for all amounts due to 

Defendants from Plaintiffs. 

223. Plaintiffs’ claims are barred and/or negated by virtue of the claims of Defendants 

set forth in the Counterclaim in this matter. 

WHEREFORE, having fully answered Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint, Defendants 

request that the Court enter an Order dismissing Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint with 

prejudice and granting Defendants their costs, attorneys’ fees and such other and further relief as 

the Court deems just and proper in the circumstances. 
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COUNTERCLAIM 

COME NOW Counter-Plaintiffs, PAUL PEREIRA, ALTON CONSULTING GROUP, 

LLC, ALTON GROUP, INC. and ALTON BIO, LLC, (“Counter-Plaintiffs”) by and through 

undersigned counsel, hereby file this, in accordance with the applicable Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure, their Counterclaim against Counter-Defendants, MEREDIAN HOLDINGS GROUP, 

INC. (“MHG”), MEREDIAN, INC., (“MEREDIAN”) DANIMER SCIENTIFIC, LLC 

(“DANIMER”) and MEREDIAN BIOPLASTICS, INC. (“MEREDIAN BIOPLASTICS”) 

(“Counter-Defendants”), and state as follows: 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. Subject matter jurisdiction is based upon 28 U.S.C. Sec. 1332, because, upon 

information and belief, there is complete diversity of citizenship between the parties and the 

amount in controversy exceeds, exclusive of interest and costs, the sum of Seventy Five 

Thousand ($75,000) Dollars. 

2. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. Sec. 1391(a), 

because a substantial part of the events giving rise to this action occurred in this district. Venue is 

proper in the Albany Division pursuant to Middle District of Georgia Local Rule 3.4, because 

Counter-Defendants reside in that division and the underlying claims in the Amended Complaint 

are alleged to have arisen in that division. 

3. This Court has personal jurisdiction over all Counter-Defendants because: (a) the 

claims asserted herein arise out of business conducted by such defendant in Decatur County 

Georgia; (b) each such defendant committed tortious acts or omissions within Decatur County, 

Georgia; and/or (c) each such Defendant committed or caused a tortious injury in Decatur 

County, Georgia and such defendant regularly conducts business in Decatur county, Georgia 
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and/or derives substantial revenue from goods used or consumed or services rendered in Decatur 

County, in addition to the nature of this action as a counterclaim. 

4. This is a compulsory counterclaim. 

5. All conditions precedent to the bringing of this action, have been performed, 

satisfied, or are excused. 

THE PARTIES 

6. Counter-Plaintiff PAUL PEREIRA, (“PEREIRA”) is an individual domiciled and 

permanently residing in the State of Florida, with an address of 1521 Alton Road, Miami Beach, 

Florida 33139. 

7.   ALTON CONSULTING GROUP, LLC p/k/a THE ALTON GROUP, LLC, was 

and is a limited liability company duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of 

the State of Florida, with its principal place of business located at 1521 Alton Road, Miami 

Beach, Florida 33139.  

8. ALTON GROUP, INC., was and is a corporation duly organized and existing 

under and by virtue of the laws of Belize, with its principal place of business located at 1521 

Alton Road, Miami Beach, Florida 33139.  

9. ALTON BIO, LLC was and is a limited liability company duly organized and 

existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of Florida, with its principal place of 

business located at 1521 Alton Road, Miami Beach, Florida 33139.  

10. ALTON CONSULTING GROUP, LLC p/k/a THE ALTON GROUP, LLC, 

ALTON GROUP, INC. and ALTON BIO, LLC are collectively referred to herein as “ALTON” 

11. At all relevant times, Counter-Defendant, MEREDIAN HOLDINGS GROUP, 

INC., and was and is a corporation duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of 
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the State of Georgia, with its principal place of business located at 140 Industrial Boulevard, 

Bainbridge, Georgia 39817. 

12. At all relevant times, Counter-Defendant, MEREDIAN, INC. (“MEREDIAN”) 

was a corporation duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of 

Georgia, with its principal place of business located at 140 Industrial Boulevard, Bainbridge, 

Georgia 39817. 

13. At all relevant times, Counter-Defendant, DANIMER SCIENTIFIC, LLC 

(“DANIMER”) was a limited liability company organized and existing under and by virtue of the 

laws of the State of Georgia, with its principal place of business located at 140 Industrial 

Boulevard, Bainbridge, Georgia 39817.  

14. At all relevant times, Counter-Defendant, MEREDIAN BIOPLASTICS, INC. was 

and is a corporation duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the laws of the State of 

Georgia, with its principal place of business located at 140 Industrial Boulevard, Bainbridge, 

Georgia 39817. MEREDIAN BIOPLASTICS, INC. was and is a wholly owned subsidiary of 

MEREDIAN, INC. 

15. As part of a restructuring that occurred in or around June 2014, MEREDIAN, 

INC. and DANIMER SCIENTIFIC, LLC became wholly-owned subsidiaries of MEREDIAN 

HOLDINGS GROUP, INC., and along with MEREDIAN BIOPLASTICS, INC. are all 

collectively referred to herein below as “MHG.” 

16. Upon information and belief, at all relevant times, each of the Counter-

Defendants was and is doing and/or transacting business within the State of Georgia, contracted 

to supply goods and/or services within the State of Georgia and/or purposefully engaged in the 

actions described herein and which form the basis of Counter-Plaintiffs’ claims within the State 
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of Georgia. 

INTRODUCTION AND PEREIRA’S ENGAGEMENT 
 

17. MHG designs and has the potential to manufacture bioplastics for a variety of 

industries.  In 2006, MHG predecessor MEREDIAN purchased the intellectual property that 

forms the basis of its bioplastics technology.  Despite holding these valuable patents, 

MEREDIAN struggled as a business and was unable to convert its intellectual property into a 

reliable revenue stream.   

18. DANIMER, a biopolymer producer started in 2004 by the same founders, faced 

similar revenue and management hurdles.   

19. By 2013, the predecessors to MHG had not had a single profitable year and were 

on the brink of bankruptcy due to excessive debt, poor business deals, insufficient capital 

infusions and poor leadership. 

20. In July 2013, the predecessors to MHG realized they were in dire need of a leader 

who could turn the business around.  MHG reached out to PEREIRA; a mutual connection 

named Sonny Redmond made the introduction.   Mr. Redmond first discussed the situation with 

PEREIRA on or about July 8, 2013. 

21. MHG was heading in the wrong direction, attempting to build a “white elephant” 

and had already spent in excess of $40,000,000 (and likely closer to $60,000,000), which 

expenditures resulted not in additional revenue, but in overbuilt infrastructure sitting idle.  

22. Notably, one of the problems plaguing both companies, was that a significant 

number of their board members and executives were “insiders” who were either family members 

or had close personal and business relationships with one another, and these insiders repeatedly 

made sure that they had generous compensation packages and/or stock deals at the companies’ 
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expense.  In addition, the “packages” include commissions to Directors on the monies raised by 

the company. 

23. The insider control of the companies was so pervasive, both inside the company 

and in the local area that they were widely referred to as the “Bainbridge Five.”  The Bainbridge 

Five consisted of Tim Smith, Greg Calhoun, John Dowdy, Ralph Powell and Dick Ivey. 

24. On or about July 12, 2013, PEREIRA and Mr. Redmond traveled to Bainbridge to 

initially meet with Tim Smith (“Smith”).  Shortly after arriving in Bainbridge, PEREIRA was 

introduced by Smith to the other members of the Bainbridge Five.  During the meeting, 

PEREIRA was told and understood that the Bainbridge Five were in control of both 

MEREDIAN and DANIMER and controlled both Boards of Directors (“BOD”). 

25. From Approximately July 12, 2013 through July 15, 2013, PEREIRA discussed 

the circumstances surrounding the companies with the Bainbridge Five.  The Bainbridge Five 

indicated their desire to have PEREIRA come to work with them on MHG and indicated the next 

step was to tour the facility and meet the Boards and shareholders. 

26. On July 16, 2013, PEREIRA toured the facilities and thereafter, attended a 

shareholders’ meeting and shared some of his initial ideas for the company.  PEREIRA proposed 

that MHG abandon the concept of building large plants.  Instead, he proposed a new licensing 

strategy, and introduced a new commercialized production model. The general practice of 

allowing companies to do research without contractual agreements, or paying for the use of 

MHG’s scientists and laboratories, would be quickly discontinued, and the concept of traditional 

“research and development” contracts introduced. PEREIRA also discussed the issue of a 

frustrated shareholding base, who were threatening a class action suit because of all the false 

promises made over the previous ten (10) years.   

Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17   Filed 10/12/16   Page 31 of 60



Page 32 of 60 

27. PEREIRA spoke to the shareholders and calmed them to the point where one (1) 

particular shareholder, namely Wayne Bodie, who was leading the charge, turned and said to the 

BOD after PEREIRA’s speech “if you hire this guy I will put another million dollars in 

tomorrow.”  (Upon PEREIRA’s hire, Wayne Bodie did invest an additional million dollars). 

28. Over the next week, the Bainbridge Five discussed the circumstances with 

PEREIRA, and ultimately requested he make a presentation to the full BOD of the companies. 

29. On July 22, 2013, PEREIRA made a presentation to the MEREDIAN and 

DANIMER BOD laying out his vision for reviving the ailing companies. The boards of both 

companies were extremely impressed and decided to engage PEREIRA’s services.   

30. At that meeting, not only did the Boards decide to engage PEREIRA, but they 

also affirmed their endorsement of the leadership of the Bainbridge Five and indicated to 

PEREIRA that the Bainbridge Five, and in particular, Smith (who was known as “Mr. Big”), had 

the authority of the Boards to move forward with PEREIRA.  Notably, during this process, 

PEREIRA did not ever present a curriculum vitae, nor was he asked to present one. The sole 

focus of the meetings was business solutions and strategy. 

31. Because the companies were fast approaching insolvency, the Bainbridge Five 

quickly negotiated a deal with PEREIRA by which PEREIRA’s consulting firm, ALTON 

CONSULTING GROUP, LLC p/k/a THE ALTON GROUP, LLC, would provide MEREDIAN 

and DANIMER with consulting services designed to turn around their financial performance. 

32. On August 2, 2013, PEREIRA, MEREDIAN, INC. and DANIMER entered a 

binding Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) which acknowledged that both companies 

“are having financial difficulty, and face the prospect of insolvency.”  A copy of the MOU is 

attached hereto and made a part hereof as Exhibit “A.”  The MOU was drafted by Hoffman and 
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Associates, LLC on behalf of MHG, with the input of John Dowdy, Jad Dowdy and PEREIRA. 

33. The MOU was signed by Daniel Carraway, who was represented by the 

Bainbridge Five to be “on his way out.” 

34. PEREIRA was appointed the Executive Director of both companies and given the 

task of effectuating a turnaround.  PEREIRA’s compensation was comprised of four 

components: (1) a 20% non-dilutable interest in both companies; (2) $35,000 per month for 

turnaround consultancy services; (3) 5% of any capital infusions to the companies, regardless if 

brought about by PEREIRA; and (4) 2-4% of any royalties secured through licensing 

agreements.   

35. The MOU provided for the completion of a satisfactory background check of 

PEREIRA, who fully cooperated with any such requests made to him.  The background check 

and due diligence on PEREIRA was completed initially by Eric Glidewell Esq. of Womble 

Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, LLP, denoted as the MHG “general counsel” by the Bainbridge Five, 

for MHG.  PEREIRA’s background was cleared and the MOU went into full force and effect.  

Of further import, in preparation for a possible initial public offering by MHG, PEREIRA, some 

months later, had to undergo a strict background check by Piper Jaffray and Kroll, and again 

passed with “flying colors.” 

36. The MOU also permitted the companies to cancel the agreement and take back 

75% of the equity granted to PEREIRA if he failed to meet certain milestones.  Notably, as 

discussed below, when the MOU was expiring, in Spring 2014, MHG renewed the agreement 

and, in positive recognition of PEREIRA’s performance, increased PEREIRA’s monthly 

consultancy fee from $35,000 to $50,000. 

37. To effectuate PEREIRA’s receipt of the promised equity in the MOU, the parties 
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entered into a Subscription and Stock Purchase Agreement granting PEREIRA 20% of the 

companies’ stock.  A copy of the Subscription and Stock Purchase Agreement is attached hereto 

and made a part hereof as Exhibit “B.”  Critically, PEREIRA’s shares were “non-dilutive,” such 

that upon the companies’ issuance of any additional stock, PEREIRA would be automatically 

entitled to receive additional shares of stock to keep his total ownership at 20%.  At the time, the 

stock granted to PEREIRA was valued at $6,600,000, but both MHG and PEREIRA 

contemplated that PEREIRA’s work would substantially grow the value of the stock to their 

mutual benefit.   

38. The parties also entered a Deferred Compensation Agreement and related 

Promissory Note, by which PEREIRA would be entitled to compensation of $6,618,480 on June 

15, 2018, and he would be required to repay a Promissory Note for $6,600,000 on March 1, 

2018, with said compensation.  The rationale for these agreements was to incentivize PEREIRA 

to stay for the full term of his contract.  A copy of the Deferred Compensation Agreement is 

attached hereto and made a part hereof as Exhibit “C.”  A copy of the Promissory Note is 

attached hereto and made a part hereof as Exhibit “D.” 

THE BAINBRIDGE FIVE DEMAND  
THIRTY PERCENT (30%) OF PEREIRA’S COMPENSATION 

 
39. As explained above, the parties entered the MOU on August 2, 2013.  To 

accommodate the companies’ urgent need for an executive director, PEREIRA traveled from his 

Miami home to Bainbridge, Georgia, and spent significant time there and agreed to begin 

providing consultancy services before he had even purchased a home in Bainbridge.  

40.  From approximately August 1 to September 17, 2013, PEREIRA stayed at the 

guest cottage at Southwind Plantation, a hunting plantation owned by MHG board member, 

Smith, also known by the Bainbridge Five as “Mr. Big.”  Southwind Plantation is comprised of 
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extensive undeveloped property including vast and remote hunting grounds.  Smith billed MHG 

for PEREIRA’s lodging.  During part of that period, PEREIRA’s wife, Rachael, and his adult 

son, Charles, stayed there with him.  While at Southwind Plantation, on September 3, 2013, 

continuing the process of relocating his family from Florida to Bainbridge, PEREIRA put down 

a deposit for the purchase of a house in Bainbridge. 

41. On approximately September 9, 2013, while PEREIRA was still residing at 

Smith’s plantation, Smith invited PEREIRA for an evening drive through the hunting plantation.  

Smith picked up PEREIRA and drove him around the grounds.  Initially, the two made small talk 

and discussed business.  But at one point, Smith stopped the car just outside the hunting grounds.  

42. While sitting in the car, Smith turned to PEREIRA and explained that PEREIRA 

would be agreeing to pay the Bainbridge Five twenty five percent (25%) of his remuneration 

package, and another five percent (5%) to Sonny Redmond, who had introduced PEREIRA to 

the two companies.  PEREIRA expressed his surprise since this had not been previously 

discussed and PEREIRA would be the one doing all of the work.  Smith responded that MHG 

belonged to the Bainbridge Five and this was the way that business was conducted in Bainbridge. 

43. PEREIRA initially resisted and complained this was highly unusual and not a 

normal way of doing business, he even offered to give Redmond five percent (5%) of his first 

month’s salary in recognition of the introduction that Redmond had fostered.  Smith made clear 

that the expectation was not negotiable and PEREIRA was expected to surrender thirty percent 

(30%) of every dollar paid to PEREIRA, and thirty percent (30%) of PEREIRA’s stock.   

44. When PEREIRA responded that the request was not a realistic request, Smith 

stated that if PEREIRA wanted to have an easy time here, he should agree.  Smith further said 

that PEREIRA would not want to create any unnecessary problems, and that Bainbridge is a 

Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17   Filed 10/12/16   Page 35 of 60



Page 36 of 60 

small town where they could all live happily.  Finally, Smith gestured to the hunting grounds and 

said, “See those woods over there, well in the South, we take people out there that don’t 

understand our way and behave good.”  PEREIRA understood Smith, on behalf of the 

Bainbridge Five and MHG, to be threatening PEREIRA physically and financially if PEREIRA 

did not agree to his demand.  Based on his choice of language, Smith clearly intended to convey 

such a threat.  Incredibly, Smith later reiterated the same threat about taking people out to the 

woods who didn’t behave to PEREIRA’s wife and separately to his son. 

45. In response to PEREIRA’s questions about how to document the arrangement 

(which to PEREIRA seemed improper, as well as onerous), Smith indicated that the MHG 

professionals, Dowdy & Whittaker, LLC, John Dowdy CPA, Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, 

LLP, Eric Glidewell Esq., Hoffman & Associates, LLC, Michael Hoffman Esq. and Joseph 

Nagel Esq., were familiar with this type of transaction and would document the deal on behalf of 

the company. 

46. PEREIRA already had a binding MOU, had made a down payment on a home in 

Bainbridge, and had otherwise relocated his and his family’s affairs to relocate to the small town.  

He was committed to the engagement and had no reasonable alternative.  Believing that Counter-

Defendants were threatening him physically and financially, PEREIRA acquiesced to the 

demand for thirty percent (30%) of his compensation and stock out of duress.   

THE THIRTY PERCENT (30%) INTEREST IS DOCUMENTED 

47. Smith brought PEREIRA to Hoffman and Associates, LLC (“Hoffman”) to start 

documenting the deal.  Initial discussions were had with Hoffman, who indicated he would be 

interfacing with Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, LLP (Eric Glidewell Esq.) to document the 

transaction.  Michael Hoffman was clear that his firm represented MHG, and Eric Glidewell 
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would serve as “corporate counsel.”  However, PEREIRA was informed that for this transaction, 

Eric Glidewell would be acting as MHG counsel and Hoffman would be acting as transactional 

counsel, simultaneously representing PEREIRA, the Bainbridge Five (through Smith) and MHG.  

PEREIRA also understood later that Hoffman also worked for Smith.  

48. PEREIRA was told that the financial portion of the transaction would be handled 

by Dowdy & Whittaker, LLC and John Dowdy CPA, who also represented MHG, and who also 

did work for the Bainbridge Five. 

49. Hoffman explained to PEREIRA that his payments would be directed to 

Hoffman’s trust account, which would then, along with Dowdy & Whittaker, LLC, ensure 

PEREIRA received his seventy percent (70%).  In the week following September 9, Joseph 

Nagel of Hoffman indicated he would be forming a new company, in which PEREIRA would 

have a 70% interest and Smith (on behalf of the Bainbridge Five) would have a 30% interest.  On 

September 12, 2013, the name Alton Bio, LLC was agreed and the company was created on 

September 17, 2013.  The Alton Bio, LLC operating agreement was thereafter drafted, but was 

made effective retroactively, to capture all previous payments made to PEREIRA. 

50. Copies of the relevant “Alton Bio” documents are attached hereto and made a part 

hereof as Exhibit “E.” 

51. Having dispensed with the uncomfortable formalities, but having been assured by 

MHG’s attorneys that all was legal and compliant, PEREIRA went to work. 

PEREIRA OVERCOMES ADVERSITY AND BRINGS GREAT SUCCESS TO MHG 

52. Once he started working in earnest, it became clear to PEREIRA that MHG was 

far worse off than had been represented to him by the Bainbridge Five.   

53. It rapidly became clear to PEREIRA that the MHG BOD had no idea of the real 
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state of the company and in fact, provided PEREIRA with tremendous misinformation. This 

included the status of key customers, the status of internal controls in the company, accounting 

systems, logistics, ordering, the cost of plant build out, etc. 

54. Due to the misinformation received PEREIRA, who was only supposed to be 

working two (2) weeks per month under the terms of this contract, was forced to work full time 

up to eighty (80) hours a week. 

55. Amongst the issues discovered by PEREIRA, once he started working were/are: 

a. The company books and records indicate that Dowdy and Whittaker had their clients 

invest into MHG (approximately $20,000,000) without any SEC filings.  The firm 

had their clients sign “accredited investor” forms, knowing very well that many of the 

investors were not qualified.  

b. The Dowdy and Whittaker deals were “insider” deals as John Dowdy was Chairman, 

CPA, accountant and CFO of MHG at the time, and was also a key fundraiser for 

MHG, using their portfolio of tax clients.  

c. The New Market Tax Credits, which appear to be a very strict grant from the U.S. 

Government, were being abused, as monies designated for one company were being 

transferred to another company through falsified invoices. 

d. The company books and records were wholly deficient, there being no board minutes 

for five (5) years; this led to improper “created” financial positions being used to 

obtain loans, investment and new business. 

e. Various deals and transactions were completed in derogation of disclosure 

requirements related to issuing stock, granting stock to the BOD without a board vote 

or shareholder approval, transfer of the New Market Tax Credit money, improperly 
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documenting the use of $17,000,000 in loans guaranteed by the U.S.D.A., and a 

multitude of other deals amongst the directors. 

f. There was never an approved budget because the company has never been able to 

prepare formal accounts, since no formal structure, departments or department heads 

were established until PEREIRA was able to complete the merger in June 2014; 

thereafter restructuring from within. 

g. Misrepresenting to the U.S.D.A. and on the New Market Tax Credits, the company’s 

performance and its asset contribution for matching funds. 

h. Improper deals called “Renew Resin,” which were done between Greg Calhoun, 

Smith and the First National Bank Decatur (FNBD) (which included members of the 

Bainbridge Five on its BOD).  It entailed them signing a note and collecting cash 

payments and stock.  No Board minutes or approval was ever found for these 

transactions. 

i. The company and its representatives made false representations to Fortune 500 

companies about the capacity of the company production and its ability to price the 

product competitively.  

j. The company had falsified information to Solo/Dart in an attempt to get a full 

$7,000,000 investment from Solo/Dart. 

k. There was a big “grand opening” where the company, with the knowledge of the 

Directors, falsified the company production and actually had boxes with the company 

name on it lined up as if there was product to be delivered, and had a conveyor belt 

showing fake product going to nowhere behind a curtain.  

l. The BOD coerced and forced Daniel Carraway and Blake Lindsey to give up more 
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than ninety percent (90%) of their stock, claiming, otherwise the company would go 

bankrupt. This behavior continued during PEREIRA’s term at the company where 

Directors, lead by John Dowdy, Greg Calhoun and Smith, wanted to find a way to 

take the balance of shares held by Daniel Carraway and Blake Lindsey. 

m. The company had falsified test results on the degradation of the product. 

n. Nepotism was used in lieu of hiring qualified personnel on many occasions, and there 

was resistance to hiring any “outsiders” to perform duties. 

o. Greg Calhoun benefited from dealings with the company by selling canola to the 

company without proper disclosure. 

p. The Bainbridge Five benefitted by selling the company Ford vehicles for employees, 

providing pest control services, selling hotel rooms to visitors at a higher price than 

the local hotel and selling food without proper disclosure.  

q. Dowdy and Whittaker benefitted by selling accounting, payroll services and auditing 

services to the company, without proper disclosure. 

r. The First National Bank of Decatur created an investment instrument by having each 

individual investor provide a personal loan and then bundling the loans together into a 

$10,000,000 debt without proper disclosure. 

s. The company used improper Private Placement Memorandums without proper filing 

and disclosure, which also improperly reduced the company share value. 

t. Select groups of investors were given additional stock “free” to reduce their average 

investment.  This is done with no regard for the original investors and their rights.  

u. The BOD paid themselves commission in company stock for any money raised. 
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PEREIRA BRINGS SUCCESS AND VALUE TO MHG;  

THE BOARD PRAISES PEREIRA AND GIVES HIM A RAISE 

56. Despite all of the above noted issues, PEREIRA devoted his best efforts to bring 

success and value to MHG. 

57.  PEREIRA went to work and although his contract required him to work only two 

(2) weeks per month, he never once did that.  In fact, on Christmas day he was in the plant, and 

PEREIRA did not take any vacation for two (2) years, while working an average of eighty (80) 

hours per week.  His tenure was constantly plagued with interference from the BOD and having 

to comply with wishes of the Directors about who to hire, and not being allowed to fire anybody 

related to the Directors. 

58. Despite the restrictions, PEREIRA pursued and successfully merged all the 

entities and removed $110,000,000 of shareholder liability (created initially by John Dowdy and 

others, establishing eight (8) classes of stock with promised returns ranging from three times (3x) 

to thirty six times (36x)); he got rid of the eight (8) classes of preferred stock. The merger 

involved the complex consolidation and reissuance of multiple classes of stock.  PEREIRA was 

instrumental in accomplishing this task to help effectuate the merger. 

59. PEREIRA rebranded the company as MHG, while giving it global presence. 

60. Clearly delighted with the results that PEREIRA had produced thus far, on April 

25, 2014, MHG entered a renewed and amended three-year agreement with Alton for 

PEREIRA’s services (the “Consulting Agreement”) in which MHG agreed to increase 

PEREIRA’s compensation.  A copy of the Consulting Agreement attached hereto and made a 

part hereof as Exhibit “F.” 

61. Under the Consulting Agreement, PEREIRA agreed to provide his services for 
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two weeks per month, working toward the company’s turnaround plan.  In exchange, Alton was 

entitled to receive $50,000 per month for consulting services for the three-year term (up from 

$35,000).  In addition, as before, MHG again agreed to pay Alton royalties of up to 4% through 

April 2019, regardless of whether the licensee was introduced by Alton, and 5% of all capital 

infusions to the company through January 2017, regardless of whether the investors were 

introduced by Alton.  

62. PEREIRA continued to boost MHG’s performance and on February 24, 2015, a 

special board meeting was held in which board member John Dowdy moved the board to hold a 

vote of confidence in favor of PEREIRA.  The vote passed unanimously (with PEREIRA 

abstaining) and the board began discussing extending PEREIRA’s contract yet again. 

63. As objective confirmation of PEREIRA’s success, in around June 2015, an 

outside company, Intrexon, made a bid to purchase the once-near-bankrupt MHG for 

$118,800,000. (Note, that PEREIRA’s 20% interest in the company had been valued at 

$6,600,000 in 2013, equating to a $33,000,000 valuation of the company.  Thus, under 

PEREIRA’s leadership, the company value had increased by nearly 400% in approximately two 

(2) years.)   

64. MHG grew from a state of virtual insolvency in July 2013, to an initial offer by 

Intrexon in July 2015 for a $148,000,000 enterprise buyout, including capital injection within a 

two (2) year period.    

65. During this period the company grew from an $11,000,000 loss in 2012 to a 

$5,000,000 loss through Q3 of with a projected path to $40,000,000 in revenues in 2016 and net 

income of $3,000,000. 

66. PEREIRA made numerous other contributions to MHG, including without 
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limitation: 

a. Spoke to shareholders to avert a shareholder class action lawsuit headed by Wayne 

Bodie. Wayne Bodie ultimately invested $1,000,000 based on PEREIRA’s 

employment with company. 

b. Spoke to USDA and First National Bank Decatur and Chuck Stafford of United 

National Bank to build confidence in a new strategic plan moving forward in order to 

avert loan default actions. 

c. Addressed several bad contracts and potential lawsuits such as CRI and Green Energy 

Fund.  Settled CRI. 

d. Re-focused the company objective from building out a 120-million-pound facility 

with no commercial contracts to pursuing the completion of key customer product 

developments. 

e. Established a new policy of all clients paying for any research for new product 

research. 

f. Designed and implemented the new Research and Development client incubation 

model for generating sales and gaining customer commitments to product 

development. 

g. Signed on new clients: Genpak $1,200,000, Polymer Group, $1,500,000, SCJ 

$150,000, Halliburton and RJ Reynolds.  Several more companies were in the 

pipeline including LEGO and Ferrero.  

h. Redefined the company product value proposition with Ramon Llorens. 

i. Engaged McCall engineering to prepare proper design and pricing for the facility 

build out. 
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j. Identified that the original cost projections for facility build out were very wrong and 

not supported by McCall engineering report. Original projections by Michael Smith 

(a company officer) were $12,000,000 for entire facility; after engineering report 

would cost close to $75,000,000. 

k. Shut down non-profitable European operations. 

l. Renamed company and redesigned logo and corporate branding and message, 

positioning MHG as leading biopolymer company worldwide. 

m. Rebuilt/modified company strategy more than eight (8) times, as more information 

became available over the two (2) years, materially affecting the company strategy. 

n. Carefully managed the devious and potentially destructive exit by the former Board, 

of the founder and CEO, Daniel Carraway. 

o. Brought on Dr. Noda (the inventor of PHA) formally as Chief Audit Officer. 

p. Reduced the sample cycle time to customers and improved sample control and 

implemented proper documentation through the assistance of Dr. Noda. 

q. Created new departments, accountability and new reporting structure. 

r. Established KPI’s in each department. 

s. Established budgets for each department. 

t. Designed a strategy to leverage the overbuild of $40,000,000 in infrastructure and 

equipment in order to create revenues. 

u. Built out new labs for more efficient research and development at the MHG facility. 

v. Implemented purchase order system and proper interim accounting system. 

w. Saved Henkel contract cancellation. 

x. Promoted establishing a proper logistics and inventory system with LIFO or FIFO 
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depending on product life. 

y. Moved company to start pursuing contractual agreements rather than monthly 

purchase orders in order to establish base line cash flows.  

z. Rebuilt relationships with Solo/Dart so that MHG could move projects to completion 

of thermoform lid for Starbucks and cutlery. 

aa. Pursued marine biodegradability status, and promoted it worldwide in order to 

differentiate MHG from the rest of the bioplastic companies. 

bb. Brought in several major investment banking firms interested in IPO, namely, 1. 

Jefferies – Robert Bayer, Managing Director, 2. Piper Jaffray – Tom Halverson, 

Managing Director, 3. Stifel – Robert Kaplan, Managing Director, 4. Lindsay 

Goldberg – Russel Treidman, Senior Partner, 5. Stephens Bank- Tom Mauchaud, 

Managing Director, 6. Roth Capital – Ted Roth, President, 7. Robinson Humphrey – 

David Ruff, Managing Director. 

cc. Partnered with Tate and Lyle to ramp production to produce in excess of 20,000 

pounds of PHA in 2014 and get confirmation of proof of scalability. 

dd. Implemented quality control and sample shipment control and accountability with Dr. 

Noda. 

ee. Implemented documentation of 1. Trade secrets, 2. Fermentation process, and 3. 

Protocol and procedures in labs with Dr. Noda. 

ff. Moved the company from minimal production of PHA such as 1 pound to 5,000 

pounds and the largest PHA production worldwide. 

gg. Invited to speak at the United Nations Unctad roundtable for sustainability in Geneva.  

hh. Expanded relations with UGA and solidified the commitment between UGA and 
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MHG, with a grant to UGA Dr. Jenna Jambeck and our reciprocal provision of lab 

expansion to facilitate analytical research. 

ii. Repositioned MHG with new website, new marketing material, new branding and 

new value proposition. 

jj. Restructured all departmental reporting, previously non-existent: Weekly sales report, 

smart sheet updates on any project daily, weekly operations report, pilot plant 

production reports, sample production, turnover and progress reports. 

kk. Leveraged the overbuilt infrastructure to utilize idle capital equipment, such as 

extruders, to produce “tolling” revenues with Tate and Lyle. 

ll. Established a “tolling” department to focus on the sales and marketing of the revenue 

vertical; 

mm. Designed seven revenue streams to change the traditional biotech model 

dependent on the one “diamond”, namely PHA, Increase Extrusion Coating Sales, 

Increase Aqueous Coating Sales, Henkel Hot melt adhesive sales, PHA sample sales, 

Research and Development contract sales and Tolling. 

CERTAIN INSIDE BOARD MEMBERS TURN AGAINST PEREIRA 

67. Around August of 2015, a sudden and rapid sea change occurred in the BOD’s 

attitude toward PEREIRA.  This change can likely be explained by three related events. 

68. First, in approximately July 2015, at Smith’s urging, Stuart Pratt (“Pratt”) joined 

the BOD as a new director with no previous connection to MHG.  Almost instantly, Pratt began 

talking about becoming chairman of the board—a position held by PEREIRA.  It now appears 

that Pratt was, at minimum, extremely loyal to the Bainbridge Five, and worse, potentially 

looking for opportunities to oust PEREIRA in favor of his own control of the company.  Indeed, 
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Pratt hand-selected the CEO who has now replaced PEREIRA.  

69. Second, on August 21, 2015, PEREIRA attended a regular meeting with the 

company’s “chiefs.”  The chief financial officer, Jad Dowdy’s (the son of board member John 

Dowdy, who had previously moved the board for the vote of confidence on PEREIRA) 

performance had frequently fallen below PEREIRA’s expectations and this was a difficult 

relationship given Dowdy’s father’s role on the BOD.  Differences between Jad Dowdy and 

PEREIRA came to a head at the chiefs meeting and Jad Dowdy hot-headedly threatened 

PEREIRA, “either you resign or I will.”   

70. As a result of his outburst and other performance problems, two (2) days later, 

based on the guidance and recommendation of Eric Glidewell, Esq., on August 23, 2015 

PEREIRA placed Jad Dowdy on administrative leave by way of an email drafted by MHG’s 

counsel, Eric Glidewell.  This led to a showdown between PEREIRA and Jad Dowdy’s father, 

John Dowdy, and Pratt.  To make clear that PEREIRA knew who was in charge, on August 26, 

2015, Pratt circulated an email suggesting a change could be made in PEREIRA’s title from 

CEO to CFO.   

71. This is particularly remarkable since only (6) six days earlier, Pratt had sent 

PEREIRA an email contemplating what shape PEREIRA’s renewed contract would take, and 

assuring PEREIRA that the contract would “give you the confidence that you can go run the 

company, protect your investment and the shareholders’ investment, and allow the board to act in 

their fiduciary capacity without frustrating you while we get this project done.”   

72. Third, on August 31, 2015, PEREIRA indicated to the Bainbridge Five that he 

was no longer going to honor the thirty percent (30%) extortion deal and was going to bring it 

before the Board.  A mere four days later, on September 4, 2015, the Board place PEREIRA on 
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administrative leave, ostensibly due to concerns about inaccuracies on his CV and several related 

trumped-up complaints.   

73. Note, the Board did not identify the agreement with Smith as a ground for the 

decision, nor did they claim they were unaware of same, and took no action against Smith.  This 

is another example of the protection of “insiders” by the Bainbridge Five and MHG. 

74. The decision to place PEREIRA on administrative leave, and ultimately to 

terminate him, was clear retribution for PEREIRA’s refusal to “play along” with the inside 

directors’ attempt to keep their friends and family in place in the company and to profit at the 

expense of the company’s bottom line.   

75. Outside board member Steve Economos strongly disagreed with the decision to 

place PEREIRA on leave, stating in an email to Pratt: “Say what you want about Paul but he is 

the one who turned the company around with the same team that could not get the job 

done for 10 years.  If Paul goes then we are left with the same group that could not get the 

job done.”   

76. After the fact, on September 15, 2016, the board retained attorney John Monroe, 

purportedly to conduct an investigation of allegations against PEREIRA.  Less than a month 

later, on October 13, 2015, Monroe issued a 9-page “investigative” report that supposedly 

documents PEREIRA’s misconduct.  Monroe issued an amended report a week later.   

77. Three (3) days after Monroe issued the initial report, on October 16, 2015, MHG 

attempted to threaten PEREIRA into settling for pennies.  Pratt threatened PEREIRA that he 

needed to settle because MGH could release the Report, irreparably harming PEREIRA’s 

reputation.  Pratt stated (in a recorded phone call), “no matter what comes out of this thing, you 

don’t need the rumors because of a report, whether false or true.” 
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78. On November 3, 2016, the board voted to terminate PEREIRA, with Steve 

Economos abstaining.  Even though PEREIRA’s counsel had promised a full response to the 

allegations contained in the Report, the board refused to wait for a complete response before 

terminating PEREIRA, demonstrating its lack of any real interest in the merits of the termination 

decision. 

79. MHG threatened to circulate the Report, potentially outside the company, thus 

damaging PEREIRA’s reputation and career, even while acknowledging that MHG did not care 

“whether [the Report was] false or true.”   

SUBSEQUENT TO PEREIRA’S TERMINATION 

80. Subsequent to his termination, the Board indicated it would not honor 

PEREIRA’s stock, would not pay him any monies he was owed, and thereafter, the underlying 

lawsuit was filed. 

81. Further, despite PEREIRA being in actual possession of his stock, MHG has 

inconceivably called shareholder meetings, board meetings and carried on as if it were “business 

as usual;” this despite the fact that failing to disclose PEREIRA’s stock ownership and this 

claim, is tantamount to fraud. 

82. Counter-Plaintiffs have been forced to hire undersigned counsel and have agreed 

to pay a reasonable fee for the legal services rendered. 

COUNT I – BREACH OF CONTRACT  

83. Counter-Plaintiffs repeat, reiterate and reallege the allegations set forth in 

paragraphs 1 through 82 as if fully set forth herein.  

84. Each of Exhibits “A through D and F,” is a written contract between Counter-

Plaintiffs and the Counter-Defendants. 

Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17   Filed 10/12/16   Page 49 of 60



Page 50 of 60 

85. Counter-Defendants breached the contract by: 

a. Failing to make all payments due under the contracts; 

b. Failing to properly issue the stock due under the contracts;  

c. Failing to take all other actions provided for under the contracts; 

d. Improperly attempting to terminate the contracts; and, 

e. Improperly attempting to rescind the contracts. 

86. Counter-Defendants have been damaged by the actions of Counter-Defendants in 

an amount in excess of $75,000.00.  

WHEREFORE, Counter-Defendants demand judgment against Counter-Defendants for 

damages in excess of $15,000.00, together with attorney fees where provided for in the contracts, 

costs and interest, and such other, further, and different relief, as the Court may deem just, proper 

and equitable under the circumstances.  

COUNT II – SECURITIES FRAUD – ALL COUNTER-DEFENDANTS 
BREACH OF FLA. STAT., CHAPTER 517  
BREACH OF GA. STAT., §10-5-1, et seq. 

 
87. Counter-Plaintiffs repeat, reiterate and reallege the allegations set forth in 

paragraphs 1 through 86 as if fully set forth herein.  

88. This is an action by Counter-Plaintiffs against all Counter-Defendants under the 

Florida Securities and Investor Protection Act, §517.011, et seq. or alternatively under the 

Georgia Uniform Securities Act of 2008, §10-5-1, et seq.  

89. Counter-Defendants, collectively did sell or offer to sell securities to Counter-

Plaintiffs. The securities were the shares ultimately embodied in the stock of MHG.  

90. Certain representations as to nature of the shares, the timing of issuance of the 

shares, and the status of the predecessor companies to MHG, were made to Counter-Plaintiffs in 
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conjunction with the offer to sell or the sale of securities.   

91. Ultimately, Counter-Plaintiffs did not receive what they were offered, Counter- 

Plaintiffs have lost monies and now MHG stock has experienced a massive devaluation.   

92. With specificity, all Counter-Defendants made representations (or verified the 

representations of the other Counter-Defendants) to Counter-Plaintiffs, (or omitted material facts 

from their representations), which include, but are not limited to, those set forth in the paragraphs 

above. 

93. Counter-Plaintiffs relied upon the representations of Counter-Defendants and 

entered into the subject contracts and employment relationship and relocated to Georgia.  

94. The actions of Counter-Defendants are in violation of Florida Statutes, §517.301 

and/or Georgia Statutes, §10-5-50.  

95. Counter-Plaintiffs are entitled to damages and relief as provided for in Florida 

Statutes §517.211 and §517.312, for any and all damages directly or indirectly related to 

Counter-Defendants’ violation of Florida Statutes, §517.301 and/ or as provided for in Georgia 

Statutes §10-5-58, for any and all damages directly or indirectly related to Counter-Defendants’ 

violation of Georgia Statutes, §10-5-50.  

96. Counter-Plaintiffs are entitled to reasonable attorneys’ fees for which Counter-

Defendants are liable pursuant to Florida Statutes, §517.211(6) and/or Georgia Statutes §10-5-

58.  

WHEREFORE, Counter-Plaintiffs demand judgment against Counter-Defendants, jointly 

and severally, for damages in excess of $75,000.00, in accordance with Florida Statutes 

§517.211 and §517.312, and/or Georgia Statutes §10-5-58, together with costs, interest, 

attorney’s fees and such other, further, and different relief as the Court may deem just, proper 
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and equitable under the circumstances.  

COUNT III – FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION – ALL COUNTER-
DEFENDANTS 

 
97. Counter-Plaintiffs repeat, reiterate and reallege the allegations set forth in 

paragraphs 1 through 96 as if fully set forth herein. 

98. Counter-Plaintiffs sue Counter-Defendants for damages in excess of $75,000.00, 

exclusive of costs and interest, for fraudulent misrepresentation.  

99. Counter-Defendants intentionally made false statements to Counter-Plaintiffs as 

set forth above, or intentionally omitted relevant facts from their statements regarding the deal 

between the parties, the securities sales and the status of the companies.  

100. Counter-Defendants made representations to Counter-Plaintiffs (or omitted 

material facts from their representations), which include, but are not limited to those set forth in 

the paragraphs above.  

101. Counter-Defendants knew or should have known that their statements were false 

when they made them or knowingly omitted to tell the truth when they should have done so. 

102. Counter-Defendants made the statements or omissions intending that Counter-

Plaintiffs would rely on the false statements or omissions.  

103. Counter-Plaintiffs did rely upon the statements or omissions Counter-Defendants 

and have been damaged thereby.  

WHEREFORE, Counter-Plaintiffs demand judgment against Counter-Defendants, jointly 

and severally, for damages in excess of $75,000.00, together with costs and interest, and such 

other, further, and different relief, as the Court may deem just, proper and equitable under the 

circumstances.  Further, Counter-Plaintiffs reserve the right to amend to assert punitive damages 

upon a proper showing to the Court.  
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COUNT IV – NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION – ALL COUNTER-DEFENDANTS 

104. Counter-Plaintiffs repeat, reiterate and reallege the allegations set forth in 

paragraphs 1 through 103 as if fully set forth herein. 

105. Counter-Plaintiffs sue Counter-Defendants for damages in excess of $75,000.00, 

exclusive of costs and interest, for negligent misrepresentation.  

106. Counter-Defendants, made statements to Counter-Plaintiffs as set forth above, or 

intentionally omitted relevant facts from their statements regarding the deal between the parties, 

the securities sales and the status of the companies, which statements Counter-Defendants may 

have believed were true at the time, but which statements were in fact false.  

107. Counter-Defendants made representations to Counter-Plaintiffs (or omitted 

material facts from their representations), which include, but are not limited to those set forth in 

the paragraphs above. 

108. Counter-Defendants were negligent in making their statements because they 

should have known they were false when they made them.  

109. Counter-Defendants made the statements or omissions intending that Counter-

Plaintiffs would rely on the false statements or omissions.  

110. Counter-Plaintiffs did rely upon the statements or omissions of Counter-

Defendants and have been damaged thereby.   

WHEREFORE, Counter-Plaintiffs demand judgment against Counter-Defendants, jointly 

and severally, for damages in excess of $75,000.00, together with costs and interest, and such 

other, further, and different relief, as the Court may deem just, proper and equitable under the 

circumstances.  
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COUNT V – CONVERSION – ALL COUNTER-DEFENDANTS 

111. Counter-Plaintiffs repeat, reiterate and reallege the allegations set forth in 

paragraphs 1 through 110 as if fully set forth herein.   

112. Counter-Plaintiffs sue Counter-Defendants for damages in excess of $75,000.00, 

exclusive of costs and interest, for conversion.  

113. In accordance with the facts as set forth above, Counter-Defendants converted the 

stock belonging to Counter-Plaintiffs to their own use.  It is unclear to Counter-Plaintiffs, which 

Counter-Defendant actually wound up with the stock. 

114. Counter-Plaintiffs were accordingly damaged. 

WHEREFORE, Counter-Plaintiffs demands judgment against Counter-Defendants, 

jointly and severally, for damages in excess of $75,000.00, together with costs and interest, and 

such other, further, and different relief, as the Court may deem just, proper and equitable under 

the circumstances. 

COUNT VI – UNJUST ENRICHMENT– ALL DEFENDANTS 

115. Counter-Plaintiffs repeat, reiterate and reallege the allegations set forth in 

paragraphs 1 through 114 as if fully set forth herein. 

116. Counter-Plaintiffs conferred a benefit on Counter-Defendants in the form of the 

services of Counter-Plaintiffs, increased value of MHG and other actions as set forth above.   

117. Counter-Defendants accepted and retained the benefits conferred by Counter-

Plaintiffs. 

118. The circumstances are such that it would be inequitable for Counter-Defendants 

to retain benefit without paying fair value for it. 
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WHEREFORE, Counter-Plaintiffs demands judgment against Counter-Defendants, 

jointly and severally, for damages in excess of $75,000.00, together with costs and interest, and 

such other, further, and different relief, as the Court may deem just, proper and equitable under 

the circumstances. 

COUNT VII - CONTRACT IMPLIED IN FACT – ALL DEFENDANTS 

119. Counter-Plaintiffs repeat, reiterate and reallege the allegations set forth in 

paragraphs 1 through 118 as if fully set forth herein. 

120. Counter-Plaintiffs performed for Counter-Defendants the services of Counter-

Plaintiffs, bringing increased value of MHG and other actions as set forth above.   

121. Counter-Plaintiffs performed the services at the request of Counter-Defendants, 

with Counter-Defendants’ knowledge. 

122. Under circumstances Counter-Defendants understood and intended that 

compensation was to be paid. 

 WHEREFORE, Counter-Plaintiffs demands judgment against Counter-Defendants, 

jointly and severally, for damages in excess of $75,000.00, together with costs and interest, and 

such other, further, and different relief, as the Court may deem just, proper and equitable under 

the circumstances. 

COUNT VIII – DECLARATORY RELIEF - ALL DEFENDANTS 

123. Counter-Plaintiffs repeat, reiterate and reallege the allegations set forth in 

paragraphs 1 through 122 as if fully set forth herein. 

124. This is an action for declaratory relief by Counter-Plaintiffs. 

125. This is a statutory action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.A. § 2201: 

§ 2201. Creation of remedy 
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(a) In a case of actual controversy within its jurisdiction, except with respect 
to Federal taxes other than actions brought under section 7428 of the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, a proceeding under section 505 or 1146 of 
title 11, or in any civil action involving an antidumping or countervailing 
duty proceeding regarding a class or kind of merchandise of a free trade 
area country (as defined in section 516A(f)(10) of the Tariff Act of 1930), 
as determined by the administering authority, any court of the United States, 
upon the filing of an appropriate pleading, may declare the rights and other 
legal relations of any interested party seeking such declaration, whether or 
not further relief is or could be sought. Any such declaration shall have the 
force and effect of a final judgment or decree and shall be reviewable as 
such. 
 
(b) For limitations on actions brought with respect to drug patents see 
section 505 or 512 of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or section 
351 of the Public Health Service Act. 

 
126. In a declaratory judgment action, the Court can fashion any reasonable remedy 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C.A. § 2202: 

§ 2201. Creation of remedy 
 
Further necessary or proper relief based on a declaratory judgment or decree 
may be granted, after reasonable notice and hearing, against any adverse 
party whose rights have been determined by such judgment. 

 
127. Counter-Plaintiffs believe that they are entitled to all of the remuneration and 

stock as provided for in the various agreements, attached hereto and made a part hereof as 

Exhibits “A through D and F.” 

128. Counter-Plaintiffs have diligently performed any obligations they may have had 

under the various agreements.  

129. Counter-Defendants have proceeded as if the subject agreements never existed. 

130. Counter-Plaintiffs are in doubt of their rights under the subject agreements.   

131. Counter-Plaintiffs are entitled to a declaration of their rights under the subject 

agreements. 
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132. Counter-Plaintiffs are additionally entitled to a declaration of their rights under 

Exhibit E, that any stock or compensation thereunder, which would up in the possession, custody 

or control of Counter-Defendants, must be returned to Counter-Plaintiffs.  

 WHEREFORE, Counter-Plaintiffs demands judgment against Counter-Defendants, 

jointly and severally, for a declaration: 

A. That Exhibits “A through D and F” are valid and in full force and effect; 

B. That Counter-Plaintiffs have fully performed all of their obligations under 

Exhibits “A through D and F;” 

C. That Counter-Defendants have breached their obligations under Exhibits “A 

through D and F;” 

D. That Counter-Plaintiffs are entitled to all compensation due to Counter-Plaintiffs 

pursuant to Exhibits “A through D and F;” 

E. That Counter-Defendants shall pay all compensation due to Counter-Plaintiffs 

pursuant to Exhibits “A through D and F;” 

F. That Counter-Plaintiffs are entitled to all stock in the undiluted amount of twenty 

percent (20%) of MHG, due to Counter-Plaintiffs pursuant to Exhibits “A through 

D and F;” 

G. That Counter-Defendants shall issue all stock in the undiluted amount of twenty 

percent (20%) of MHG, due to Counter-Plaintiffs pursuant to Exhibits “A through 

D and F;” 

H. That any and all compensation or stock in the possession Counter-Defendants, 

related to Exhibit E, shall be delivered to Counter-Plaintiffs; 

I. That Counter-Defendants are liable for costs, interest and attorneys’ fees; and, 

Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17   Filed 10/12/16   Page 57 of 60



Page 58 of 60 

J. For such other, further, and different relief as the Court may deem just, proper and 

equitable under the circumstances. 

COUNT IX – RELIEF UNDER THE ALL WRITS ACT - ALL DEFENDANTS 

133. Counter-Plaintiffs repeat, reiterate and reallege the allegations set forth in 

paragraphs 1 through 132 as if fully set forth herein. 

134. For any Count, and not as independent relief, the Court can issue a writ 

accordingly, 28 U.S.C.A. § 1651: 

§ 1651. Writs 
 
(a) The Supreme Court and all courts established by Act of Congress may 
issue all writs necessary or appropriate in aid of their respective 
jurisdictions and agreeable to the usages and principles of law. 
 
(b) An alternative writ or rule nisi may be issued by a justice or judge of a 
court, which has jurisdiction. 

 
135. Counter-Plaintiffs seek an appropriate writ, causing Counter-Defendants to 

comply with any relief as ordered by this Court. 

 WHEREFORE, Counter-Plaintiffs demands the issuance of such writs as may be 

appropriate, and such other, further, and different relief, as the Court may deem just, proper and 

equitable under the circumstances. 

COUNT X - CLAIM FOR CIVIL CONSPIRACY - ALL DEFENDANTS 

136. Counter-Plaintiffs repeat, reiterate and reallege the allegations set forth in 

paragraphs 1 through 135 as if fully set forth herein. 

137. Counter-Plaintiffs sue all Counter-Defendants for Civil Conspiracy. 

138. Based upon the facts set forth herein, Counter-Plaintiffs allege there was an 

agreement between the Counter-Defendants to essentially obtain the services and stock from 

Counter-Plaintiffs and thereafter enter into agreements with each other to the detriment and 
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exclusion of Counter-Plaintiffs. 

139. As set forth above, there occurred at least one (1), if not several overt acts in 

pursuance of the conspiracy by the Counter-Defendants. 

140. Counter-Plaintiffs have been damaged as a result of the acts done under the 

conspiracy 

WHEREFORE, Counter-Plaintiffs demand judgment against all Counter-Defendants 

finding a civil conspiracy, causing all Counter-Defendants to be jointly and severally liable for 

all damages under this Counterclaim, and for such other, further, and different relief, as the Court 

may deem just, proper and equitable under the circumstances. 

DEMAND FOR TRIAL BY JURY 

141. Counter-Plaintiffs demand trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

Respectfully submitted, this 12th day of October, 2016. 

 
By: __/s/__Frank Smith______ 
       Frank M. Smith 
       Florida Bar No. 069681 
       Frank.smith@fmslawyer.com  

FMS LAWYER, PL  
9900 Stirling Road, Suite 226  
Cooper City, Florida 33024  
Telephone: 954-985-1400  
Telecopier: 954-241-6947 

 
By: ___s/ Shuli Green________ 
       Shuli L. Green 
       Georgia Bar No. 297460 

              sgreen@atl-lawyers.com  
 
COHEN COOPER ESTEP & ALLEN, LLC 
3330 Cumberland Boulevard, Suite 600  
Atlanta, Georgia 30339 
Telephone: 404.814.0000 Ext. 205 
Facsimile: 404.745.0740     ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of the foregoing was served electronically via 

the Court’s ECF system to: 

Patricia G. Griffith 
Leanne C. Mehrman 

FORD & HARRISON LLP 
271 17th Street, N.W., Suite 1900 

Atlanta, Georgia 30363 
 

Dana M. Susman 
Jonathan M. Sabin 

KANE KESSLER, P.C. 
1350 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, New York 10019 

 
 This 12th day of October, 2016. 
 

By: __/s/__Frank Smith______ 
       Frank M. Smith 
       Florida Bar No. 069681 
       Frank.smith@fmslawyer.com  

FMS LAWYER, PL  
9900 Stirling Road, Suite 226  
Cooper City, Florida 33024  
Telephone: 954-985-1400  
Telecopier: 954-241-6947 

 
By: ___s/ Shuli Green________ 
       Shuli L. Green 
       Georgia Bar No. 297460 

              sgreen@atl-lawyers.com  
 
COHEN COOPER ESTEP & ALLEN, LLC 
3330 Cumberland Boulevard, Suite 600  
Atlanta, Georgia 30339 
Telephone: 404.814.0000 Ext. 205 
Facsimile: 404.745.0740     ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS 
 

Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17   Filed 10/12/16   Page 60 of 60



 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-1   Filed 10/12/16   Page 1 of 5



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-1   Filed 10/12/16   Page 2 of 5



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-1   Filed 10/12/16   Page 3 of 5



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-1   Filed 10/12/16   Page 4 of 5



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-1   Filed 10/12/16   Page 5 of 5



 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT B 

Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-2   Filed 10/12/16   Page 1 of 9



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-2   Filed 10/12/16   Page 2 of 9



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-2   Filed 10/12/16   Page 3 of 9



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-2   Filed 10/12/16   Page 4 of 9



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-2   Filed 10/12/16   Page 5 of 9



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-2   Filed 10/12/16   Page 6 of 9



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-2   Filed 10/12/16   Page 7 of 9



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-2   Filed 10/12/16   Page 8 of 9



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-2   Filed 10/12/16   Page 9 of 9



 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT C 

Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-3   Filed 10/12/16   Page 1 of 9



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-3   Filed 10/12/16   Page 2 of 9



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-3   Filed 10/12/16   Page 3 of 9



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-3   Filed 10/12/16   Page 4 of 9



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-3   Filed 10/12/16   Page 5 of 9



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-3   Filed 10/12/16   Page 6 of 9



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-3   Filed 10/12/16   Page 7 of 9



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-3   Filed 10/12/16   Page 8 of 9



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-3   Filed 10/12/16   Page 9 of 9



 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT D 

Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-4   Filed 10/12/16   Page 1 of 5



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-4   Filed 10/12/16   Page 2 of 5



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-4   Filed 10/12/16   Page 3 of 5



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-4   Filed 10/12/16   Page 4 of 5



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-4   Filed 10/12/16   Page 5 of 5



 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT E 

Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-5   Filed 10/12/16   Page 1 of 10



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-5   Filed 10/12/16   Page 2 of 10



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-5   Filed 10/12/16   Page 3 of 10



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-5   Filed 10/12/16   Page 4 of 10



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-5   Filed 10/12/16   Page 5 of 10



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-5   Filed 10/12/16   Page 6 of 10



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-5   Filed 10/12/16   Page 7 of 10



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-5   Filed 10/12/16   Page 8 of 10



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-5   Filed 10/12/16   Page 9 of 10



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-5   Filed 10/12/16   Page 10 of 10



 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT F 

Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-6   Filed 10/12/16   Page 1 of 6



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-6   Filed 10/12/16   Page 2 of 6



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-6   Filed 10/12/16   Page 3 of 6



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-6   Filed 10/12/16   Page 4 of 6



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-6   Filed 10/12/16   Page 5 of 6



Case 1:16-cv-00124-WLS   Document 17-6   Filed 10/12/16   Page 6 of 6


